

Mitigating Risk to Maximize the Benefits of Employee Ownership

By Karla Walter and Danielle Corley October 2015



Mitigating Risk to Maximize the Benefits of Employee Ownership

By Karla Walter and Danielle Corley October 2015

Contents

1 Introduction and summary

2 How much risk is too much risk?

- 6 Employee stock ownership plans
- 7 401(k) investment in company stock

10 Company case studies: Did employee ownership go wrong?

- 11 Enron
- 13 United Airlines
- 15 Tribune Publishing Company

18 Policies to mitigate undue risk

- 19 Limit 401(k) investment in employer stock
- 20 Allow early diversification in higher-risk ESOPs
- 21 Ensure that companies correctly value the stock that they sell to workers

24 Conclusion

25 About the authors

26 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

Employee ownership can be a powerful tool to ensure that workers at all levels are able to share in the gains of a company's collective performance. Research shows that employee ownership typically provides a host of benefits—not just for workers but also for businesses and investors. If these programs were to grow throughout the economy, they could promote broad-based wealth creation, thereby fostering sustainable economic growth and reducing inequality.

In today's economy, expansion of these sorts of programs would be particularly helpful to working Americans. Over the past several decades, productivity in the United States has increased, yet the resulting economic gains have largely gone only to those at the very top. Among the top 20 percent of families by net worth, average wealth increased 120 percent between 1983 and 2010, while the middle 20 percent of families saw their wealth increase only 13 percent, and the bottom fifth of families saw their debt exceed their assets.¹ Meanwhile, corporate profits are capturing a growing share of national income.² Employee ownership can help reverse this trend by allowing workers to take home a greater share of the wealth that they help create.

Yet policymakers and worker advocates are often slow to embrace these strategies as a means of addressing the challenges facing the economy, and they are also hesitant to advance policies that greatly expand the adoption of these practices. This reluctance is due in part to questions of risk to workers, particularly when employee ownership is a part of a retirement plan.

Indeed, workers do accept an additional measure of risk—with the potential for a larger reward—by participating in employee ownership programs. For the vast majority of workers, however, the benefits of these sharing programs far outweigh the risks. Research shows that adoption of an inclusive capitalism program in a workplace, on average, leads to increased employee participation in decisionmaking, greater job security and satisfaction—and perhaps most importantly larger, long-term wealth accumulation and better pay and benefits for workers.³ Moreover, companies reap tangible benefits—such as increased productivity, lower turnover rates, and greater survival rates—and investors benefit from better overall performance.⁴

Despite these findings, policymakers and worker advocates often question whether the risk of company failure—which would cause workers to lose their jobs and potentially a portion of their retirement savings—outweighs all of the positive benefits that occur when employee ownership is part of retirement. The most common forms of employee ownership as part of retirement are employee stock ownership plans, or ESOPs, and 401(k) plans that include company stock.

Headline-grabbing tales of company stock ownership gone awry at firms such as Enron, United Airlines, and The Tribune Publishing Company, which publishes the *Chicago Tribune*, the *Los Angeles Times*, and other media outlets—have furthered the fear that such programs saddle workers with more risk than the retirement benefits are worth.

This report has two goals. The first goal is to answer questions about undue risk in order to prevent companies from adopting employee ownership structures that endanger workers and jeopardize the collective benefits of broad-based sharing. The second goal is to help create widespread support for policies that would encourage greater adoption of beneficial employee ownership and other sorts of broad-based profit-sharing programs throughout the economy.

The report reviews existing research on risk for workers participating in ESOPs or investing in company stock through a 401(k) plan and finds that the vast majority of workers who are participating in these programs are not exposed to undue risk.

The report also features analysis of the high-profile failures of Enron, United Airlines, and the Tribune Publishing Company—both in terms of the effect of an employee ownership structure on company failure and the ensuing effect on workers.

Building on existing research and the lessons from these cases, this report offers the following policy solutions to mitigate risk while still allowing workers to benefit from inclusive capitalism:

- First, the federal government should limit 401(k) investment in company stock to 15 percent of total holdings. This would protect workers who are invested heavily in their employer's stock, either by their own choosing or as a result of matching contributions from the company.
- Second, the federal government should allow early diversification for workers who are participating in an ESOP that requires wage and benefit concessions or when the employer does not contribute to another retirement vehicle, such as a 401(k). ESOP companies rarely require wage and benefit concessions, and they are far more likely to offer another retirement plan than comparable companies without an ESOP. Yet in companies that do require concessions or do not contribute to another retirement vehicle, company failure would have a much greater adverse effect on workers.
- Third, the federal government should strengthen its oversight to ensure that companies correctly value stock that is being sold to workers. The government can do this by requiring companies to adopt valuation best practices at the outset of a company sale and better targeting the riskiest ESOP sales for audit by the U.S. Department of Labor, or DOL.

These policies will not affect the vast majority of companies that have employee ownership and that are already acting in employees' interests. In fact, policies such as better targeting of DOL audits hold the promise of reducing burdens for employee-owned companies with few risk factors. Rather, they are targeted to address the minority of companies with employee ownership where workers face undue risk. In sum, this report aims to start a dialogue about how to better protect workers while still offering the benefits of inclusive capitalism.

In July 2015, the Center for American Progress released the report "Capitalism for Everyone," which details policies that encourage greater employee ownership and broad-based profit sharing throughout the economy.⁵ That report should be read as a companion to this report, and the policies outlined in "Capitalism for Everyone" should be adopted in conjunction with the policies profiled in this report.

Employee stock ownership plans vs. 401(k) plans with company stock

The most common forms of employee ownership as part of retirement packages are employee stock ownership plans and 401(k) programs that include company stock. There is, however, a significant difference between the two. ESOPs were conceived as a way for workers to share company ownership, and in most cases, all of the ESOP contributions come from the company.⁶ Company 401(k) plans were originally designed as additional retirement plans to supplement defined benefit plans, and a significant proportion of 401(k) contributions generally come from the employee.⁷ The increased reliance on 401(k) plans as the primary source of retirement security for most workers developed later, complicating the use of company stock in these plans.⁸

ESOPs are tax-qualified benefit plans that provide workers a share in the company without having to spend their own money to buy the stock themselves. Instead, the employer establishes a trust and contributes new stock or cash to buy existing stock—typically amounting to 6 percent to 10 percent of the employee's salary.⁹ The company may borrow money to do this, making it a leveraged ESOP. Shares of the trust are distributed to individual employee accounts. When employees retire or leave the company, the employer must buy back the stock in their individual accounts at its fair market value unless it is available for public sale.¹⁰

401(k) plans with ownership of company stock are employer-sponsored retirement savings plans that allow workers to put aside part of their paychecks for retirement before taxes are taken out. Workers can choose to invest their money in a mixture of stocks, bonds, and mutual funds.¹¹ Employers then typically match employee contributions up to a certain level.¹² The average employer-promised match is 4.2 percent of pay, and the median match is 3 percent of pay.¹³ In some instances, company stock is offered as an investment option or is the form of employer contribution. Overconcentration occurs when an employee has a 401(k) invested heavily in the employer's stock, either by his or her own choosing or as a result of matching contributions from the company. Experts generally recommend that no more than 10 percent to 15 percent of a worker's portfolio be invested in company stock.¹⁴

How much risk is too much risk?

Inclusive capitalism programs require workers to accept some of the risk of poor company performance if they are also to share in the wealth if the company succeeds. Proponents of inclusive capitalism argue that companies benefit from these sorts of sharing programs because employees are more invested in the company's well-being and will work harder to ensure success. Critics point out, however, that by tying wages and retirement to the same company, workers lose both their income and investments if the company fails.

Excessive risk is not only a threat to workers but also participating companies. Research has shown that excessive risk can reverse the positive workplace benefits of shared capitalism.¹⁵ If workers feel economically insecure based on their income and the value of their capital safety nets relative to their incomes, they have more negative attitudes toward inclusive capitalism; less preference to participate in inclusive capitalism; and lower levels of motivation, job satisfaction, and company attachment and loyalty.¹⁶

Some risk, however, is inherent in shared ownership. So when is there too much risk? Research generally shows that risk is limited in both employee stock ownership plans and 401(k) plans, but there are certain factors that can increase risk. While there is some risk in any situation where compensation is variable based on company performance, risk level varies by type of program. Substituting wages or retirement savings for company stock makes workers far more vulnerable than granting workers stock ownership in addition to adequate pay and benefits. Not providing another retirement vehicle or limiting participants' ability to diversify also puts workers at additional risk. Deeper exploration of these risk areas in each program will impart a better understanding of how best to mitigate them.

Employee stock ownership plans

Research shows that companies with ESOPs offer shared ownership in addition to fair wages and retirement benefits. Several studies have found that for workers in employee-owned companies, pay and benefits are equal to or better than those of workers in comparable companies that are not employee owned.¹⁷ Additional research shows that wages are higher within companies after they have instituted employee ownership programs—showing that these programs do not act as a substitute for good wages.¹⁸ On average, ESOP companies contribute 75 percent more to their employee stock plans than other companies contribute to their primary defined contribution plan.¹⁹ Companies with employee ownership are also more likely to offer defined benefit plans or to offer a second defined contribution plan other than similar non-ESOP companies are to offer one at all.²⁰ Furthermore, ESOP companies, on average, are more stable and have higher rates of returns than the average company 401(k) plan. According to research by the National Center for Employee Ownership that included 20 years of data, ESOPs were less volatile and had higher rates of return than 401(k) plans in 15 of the 20 years. The average rate of return over the time period was 7.8 percent for 401(k)plans and 9.1 percent for ESOPs.²¹

ESOPs also have lower average default rates and better survival rates than comparison companies. In a study of 1,232 leveraged ESOP transactions at three banks between 2009 and 2013, ESOP companies had an average annual default rate of 0.2 percent. In comparison, the annual default rate for all midmarket companies that were borrowing less than \$200 million was 3.75 percent per year from 2010 to 2013.²² Another study that looked at company survival rates in privately held ESOP companies and comparable firms found that the ESOP companies were only half as likely as non-ESOP companies to go bankrupt or close over a 10-year period and only three-fifths as likely to disappear for any reason.²³

While all evidence points to the fact that the majority of companies with ESOPs are adopting best practices that largely mitigate undue risk to workers, government policies do not wholly prevent against exposing workers to high-risk ESOPs.

For example, although ESOP companies are more likely to provide a 401(k) plan or defined benefit plan than comparable companies, they are not required to do so. And even when a company's only retirement vehicle is an ESOP, workers have no ability to diversify their account holding until age 55.²⁴ If the company is not performing well, and the employee does not meet the requirements for diversification, they may be unable to protect themselves from suffering loss.

Additionally, in recent years, the federal government has been increasingly focused on enforcing fair value stock prices during the sale of a company to employees. If a company is not publicly traded and wants to establish an ESOP, its stock price must be determined by an ESOP trustee, who relies on the judgment of a valuation advisor. While best practices are generally agreed upon throughout the valuation community, there is no formal regulatory guidance in place to ensure that all companies adhere to them.

Owners who are looking to exit a struggling company may seek out an appraiser who is willing to recommend a purchase price that is inflated higher than what the market would reasonably bear if the company were sold to an outside owner. In this scenario, workers may not just be purchasing a poorly performing company for more than its fair market value. Because the stock price was overvalued at the point of sale, retiring employees will also make less when they sell the stock back to the company, and the company will have more difficulty repurchasing it.

The Department of Labor found that when ESOPs do violate the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, or ERISA, incorrect valuations are one of the most common forms, and the department has increased scrutiny in this area.²⁵ Since 2010, the agency has recovered more than \$241 million from ESOP cases, mainly involving valuation.²⁶ While this is only a small fraction of the total ESOP plan assets, DOL is charged with auditing companies with ESOPs in order to ensure that employees are not overpaying for company stock.²⁷ In this process, there is no formal regulatory guidance on how valuations must occur.

401(k) investment in company stock

High-profile company failures in the early 2000s, including those of Enron and WorldCom, demonstrated the potential dangers of workers using their 401(k) plans to invest heavily in company stock. In these instances, employers encouraged workers to buy company stock in their 401(k) plans by offering generous matching programs and limiting diversification. While Congress enacted legislation in the wake of these failures in order to encourage workers to diversify their retirement holdings, there is evidence that a small but significant minority

of workers continue to rely too heavily on company stock in their 401(k) plans. And unlike ESOPs—which are most frequently an addition to another employersponsored retirement plan and funded entirely through employer contributions— 401(k) plans are often the only retirement vehicle offered by an employer and involve a large share of worker contributions.

Indeed, Enron and WorldCom were not outliers but instead extreme examples of a larger trend of publicly traded companies that used employer stock as a match for worker contributions.²⁸ After the collapse of Enron, regulation and attitudes toward employee investment in company stock began to change. The Pension Protection Act of 2006 required employers who offered defined contribution plans with publicly traded securities to provide employees with the opportunity to divest company stock after three years of service for employer-contributed stock and immediately if the employee purchased the stock.²⁹ Also, companies started to limit company stock matching programs, and employees began to make fewer investments in company stock on their own.³⁰

Today, a small but significant minority of workers are heavily invested in company stock. Joseph R. Blasi and Douglas L. Kruse of the Rutgers University School of Management and Labor Relations and Harry Markowitz of the University of California, San Diego, Rady School of Management found that the optimal share of company stock in a worker's portfolio should be 8.33 percent, while a range of 10 percent to 15 percent would have a small effect on the portfolio's volatility.³¹ With this level of investment, the remainder of an employee's assets can then be diversified among other investments. This finding is particularly important because it comes from Markowitz, winner of the Nobel Prize for modern portfolio theory.³² Portfolio theory advocates for proper diversification in order to mitigate risk; therefore, Markowitz's conclusion that employees can have some investment in company stock is significant.³³

Yet the 2010 study by Blasi, Kruse, and Markowitz found that nearly 16 percent of participants had more than 28 percent—or twice the average—of their net wealth in company stock, while about 5 percent had more than half of their net wealth in company stock.³⁴ Another study by the Employee Benefit Research Institute and the Investment Company Institute found that new 401(k) participants were less likely to hold high concentrations of company stock after the Enron scandal,

but that some employees still heavily invested. In 2001, nearly 23 percent of new 401(k) participants held more than 50 percent of their account balance in company stock. In 2013, the figure had dropped to nearly 10 percent of new 401(k) participants holding more than 50 percent in company stock.³⁵

Many employees do not diversify even when given the chance. Studies show that efforts to educate workers about the harm of high concentrations of company stock or to empower workers through diversification options have a limited effect on actual employee investment choices.³⁶ In an overarching study on the relationship between financial literacy and financial education to financial behaviors, Daniel Fernandes of the Catholic University of Portugal, John G. Lynch Jr. of the University of Colorado-Boulder Leeds School of Business, and Richard G. Netemeyer of the University of Virginia McIntire School of Commerce, reviewed 168 papers that covered 201 prior studies to find that financial education interventions had virtually no impact on the investment behavior of participants.³⁷

A related study looked at the influence of media coverage of major company failures where employees had 401(k) plans loaded with company stock. The results show that the plethora of news stories on companies including Enron, WorldCom, and Global Crossing had little effect on employee investment in company stock at most, 2 percentage points. The same study also looked at the impact of employees gaining the ability to diversify their company stock holdings either by reaching a certain age or through loosened restrictions on all employees. Although they had opportunities to diversify, most employees at these companies continued to hold 80 percent to 90 percent of their employer match balances in company stock.³⁸

Company case studies: Did employee ownership go wrong?

When large companies with employee ownership fail, media coverage naturally gravitates to the question of whether the ownership structure was to blame and how the employee-owners were affected. Enron, United Airlines, and Tribune Publishing Company all gained national attention not only for their large-scale bankruptcies but also for corporate practices that cost workers their jobs and a portion of their retirement savings when the companies collapsed.

Critics touted these cases as evidence that employee ownership is unsustainable and leads to company failure. In general, however, these companies did not represent typical employee ownership conditions. Amid financial troubles, employers put workers at additional risk by either forcing wage and benefit concessions, failing to provide an additional retirement vehicle, neglecting to create a collaborative ownership culture, or some combination of all three. Given these circumstances, it is unfair to place all blame on the companies' employee-owned structure.

Still, evaluations of these cases offer important lessons for how federal government policy can impose stronger monitoring and limitations on companies with these less common structures that can put workers at undue risk.

First, overinvestment of 401(k) plans in company stock can lead to devastating results. While investing a portion of an employee's retirement portfolio in company stock allows workers to share in the capital gains of the employer, overinvestment puts workers at risk of losing salary and retirement savings in the event of a company downturn or failure. Even worse, the investment in company stock also often comes from the worker's own pocket.³⁹

Second, there are certain employee stock ownership plan design features that put workers at additional risk. Requiring employees to give up salary or benefits in order to participate in the plan or failing to provide an additional retirement vehicle leaves workers vulnerable in the event of company failure. Employee ownership models should be a supplementary benefit to existing wages, benefits, and retirement plans, rather than a substitution. Finally, the valuation of the stock sold to the ESOP must be done in a way that is fair and with workers' interests in mind. If not, the entire deal may be based on the false promise of future value that workers will not actually receive. Establishing the plan in a way that is honest and fair to workers is critical for success.

Enron

Before its demise, Enron was renowned as a global energy powerhouse and named by *Fortune* magazine as the most innovative American company for six years running.⁴⁰ This reputation quickly unraveled as it was revealed that the company's success was built on years of extensive accounting fraud orchestrated by senior executives to inflate stock prices and thereby make themselves rich.⁴¹ Employees—whose 401(k) plans were deeply invested in company stock—lost everything when the company failed. Their jobs were gone, and their retirement accounts were left valueless.

Enron declared bankruptcy as the details of the company's fraud became public in late 2001. Some experts and commentators speculate that a major factor behind the executive corruption was the overemphasis on stock options for their compensation.⁴² But it was not just the top executives who held stake in Enron's stock. Most company employees also held the bulk of their retirement savings in company stock. Workers could contribute as much as 15 percent of their salaries to a 401(k) plan, and Enron would match half of the contributions in company stock, up to a limit of 6 percent of the employee's base pay.⁴³

Employer-contributed shares had to be held until employees reached age 50, at which time they could sell or diversify.⁴⁴ While workers had a menu of options for their own 401(k) contributions, the company's top executives encouraged lower-level employees to invest in company stock—even as the company was floundering and the executives themselves were rapidly selling their shares.⁴⁵ This practice allowed the company to compensate workers with a noncash currency—which was far less valuable than perceived—and to receive the tax benefits of shared ownership.⁴⁶

As the company's accounting fraud came to light in the fall of 2001, the value of Enron's stock quickly plummeted.⁴⁷ Meanwhile, management halted workers' ability to sell their shares.⁴⁸ When the company declared bankruptcy in December 2001, Enron stock—once worth a peak of around \$90 per share—was down to

just 36 cents per share.⁴⁹ Of Enron's 21,000 employees, more than 4,000 were laid off, and the roughly 12,000 with 401(k) plans heavily invested in company stock lost the bulk of their retirement savings.⁵⁰ For example, an executive assistant who lost her \$49,000 salary also lost stock that was once worth \$150,000.⁵¹

In total, workers lost a collective \$2 billion in retirement funds, on top of salary losses.⁵² Sixty-two percent of the company's entire 401(k) plan was invested in Enron stock at the end of 2000.⁵³ Enron estimated that employees purchased 89 percent of this stock, and the remainder was purchased through the company's contributions.⁵⁴

Since the Enron scandal, legislative reforms have been enacted to regulate the use of employee stock ownership as a retirement vehicle. For example, the Pension Protection Act of 2006 allows employees at publicly traded companies to diversify their own holdings of company stock at any time and to sell employer-contributed stock within three years of receipt.⁵⁵ It also requires companies to notify employees of their diversification rights.⁵⁶ The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires companies to inform plan participants at least 30 days in advance of a blackout period, such as the one instituted by Enron in fall 2001.⁵⁷

Employers have also changed their retirement plan designs to provide fewer company stock investment options. One study found that between December 2005 and June 2011, roughly one-third of company stock funds stopped allowing new money or were eliminated from retirement plans completely.⁵⁸ Still, these reforms did not go so far as to broadly limit the level of investment in company stock, and a small but significant minority of workers remain overinvested in their companies.⁵⁹

Policymakers have proposed additional reform measures that would have limited the total amount of company stock allowable in 401(k) plans—either of employee contributions, employer contributions, or both.⁶⁰ Others would have allowed 401(k) plans to either have employee contributions in company stock or employer contributions in company stock—but not both.⁶¹

United Airlines

Employees purchased United Airlines in 1994 to rescue the company from financial crisis, which was in part caused by new competition from low-fare airlines.⁶² Unionized workers drove the transition to an ESOP—and accepted wage concessions to do so—but an industrywide downturn, as well as ongoing problems with management and declining support from workers, ultimately led the company back into bankruptcy. When United eventually emerged from bankruptcy, workers had lost a significant portion of their retirement savings when the ESOP shares lost their value.

United's pilots and their union—the Air Line Pilots Association—originally proposed the idea of an ESOP in the late 1980s. When the company fell into crisis in 1993, the pilots brought back the idea as a way to restructure concessionary labor contracts—this time with support from the machinists union. While the union members had the opportunity to vote on the deal, nonunion members did not.⁶³

The United ESOP was not designed in a typical fashion. Instead of offering a benefit above and beyond competitive wages, the deal required participating employees to make significant wage, benefit, and work-rule concessions in exchange for a \$4.9 billion loan to buy a 55 percent ownership stake through an ESOP.⁶⁴ Pilots and machinists took 12 percent to 15 percent cuts in pay, and nonunion employees took 8.25 percent cuts in pay.⁶⁵ Additionally, the ESOP was conceived as a temporary fix; original wages were to be restored when the ESOP agreement expired in 2000.⁶⁶ Notably, unionized flight attendants withdrew from the deal before it was finalized, due to outstanding issues with management and to avoid large wage concessions that they felt they could not afford.⁶⁷

The United ESOP transition initially appeared to be a success. The first year under the ESOP was the best year for shareholders in the company's history: The company increased in value by more than \$4 billion. Revenue per employee went up 10 percent.⁶⁸ Employee relations also seemed to improve: Grievances fell 74 percent, and productivity increased while absenteeism declined.⁶⁹ Management incorporated employees into company governance, with 3 of the 12 board positions going to employee representatives.⁷⁰ So-called best of business teams organized employees across different departments to discuss worker concerns and find ways to make efficiency improvements and cut costs.⁷¹

However, this collaborative environment did not last long. After just more than a year, United brought in new leadership, and many of the ESOP's original advocates were replaced by those who were less supportive.⁷² The best of business teams were disbanded, and as overall efforts to involve employees in corporate governance declined, pre-existing and long-standing negative relations between labor and management resurfaced.⁷³

The structure of the ESOP also presented divisions among workers. As noted earlier, flight attendants—who comprised one of the largest employee unions and were arguably the face of the company—never joined the ESOP.⁷⁴ In addition, United's ESOP was set up to offer employer contributions until only 2000, meaning that employees who joined the company after that date could not participate.⁷⁵ With so many employees shut out of the ESOP, union leaders increasingly represented employees with no stake in company ownership.⁷⁶

The tumultuous labor-management relationship, competition from low-fare airlines, and the downturn in the airline industry after September 11, 2001, were too much for the company to handle. By 2002, United declared bankruptcy. Workers who were part of the ESOP lost their stock value, along with the wage concessions that they had made in order to establish the plan. The typical mechanic, for example, had given up \$80,000 in wages for stock that dropped significantly in value after the bankruptcy.⁷⁷ Employees also later suffered losses to their retirement funds when the company defaulted on its \$9 billion pension obligations. In total, employees lost \$3.3 billion, or two-thirds of what had been invested in the ESOP.⁷⁸

United's failure was touted by some as evidence of the shortcomings of employee ownership, but it was not a typical ESOP in many ways. Employees were forced to give up wages and benefits in order to save a failing company—which is the case in only a handful of companies each year.⁷⁹ Efforts to develop a culture of ownership were short-lived. Moreover, the ESOP's expiration date and the failure to incorporate all workers created a chasm between employee-owners and nonowners.⁸⁰ Experts recommend that, in this concessionary environment, management should have paired the ESOP with a short-term profit sharing plan in return.⁸¹

A poor economy and competition from low-fare airlines also contributed significantly to United's decline. The entire airline industry suffered from this situation, which was then worsened by the 9/11 terrorist attacks and subsequent decline in air travel.⁸² Other airlines suffered also suffered at that time: Northwest Airlines and US Airways declared bankruptcy, and American Airlines nearly did so.⁸³ The combination of external economic and industry factors, along with poor ESOP design and implementation, led to United's failure.

Tribune Publishing Company

When real estate billionaire Sam Zell acquired Tribune Publishing Company in April 2007, media and business insiders questioned whether the tycoon could save the faltering company. Zell acquired Tribune through a series of complicated financial maneuvers that included establishing an ESOP as a means of leveraging enough debt to make the deal happen. Passing benefits on to workers or creating a culture of employee ownership was never a goal of the ESOP. Instead, the deal used ESOPs in a way that they were never intended to be used—and eventually ruled illegal. While Zell's attempt to rescue the company failed, Tribune Publishing Company employees emerged from the transfer of ownership relatively unscathed.

When the company's board agreed to let the current executive team collaborate with Zell in order to develop a plan, Tribune Publishing Company had been on the market for several months without a viable bidder who was willing to take on the debt that was required to appease shareholders.⁸⁴

Zell's buyout occurred in a complicated procedure and involved the company taking on massive amounts of debt. First, Zell invested \$250 million of his own money in the company, and the ESOP borrowed money from the company in order to buy \$250 million in shares at \$28 per share. Tribune then borrowed enough money to redeem the remaining shares at \$34 per share. Zell made an additional \$90 million investment to purchase the right to buy a 15-year warrant that allowed him to buy as much as 40 percent of the company if he paid another \$500 million. The result was a 100 percent S corporation ESOP, with Zell owning the right to claim up to 40 percent of the company's value.⁸⁵ As an S corporation ESOP, Tribune would not pay federal income taxes.⁸⁶ Instead, ESOP members would pay income tax on the share of stock they received upon leaving the company.⁸⁷

Tribune emerged from the massive deal with more than \$13 billion in debt.⁸⁸ This came at a time when the newspaper industry was in a major downturn. Tribune stock had fallen 36.4 percent over the previous three years, and the industry was rapidly losing revenue as advertisers moved to online media.⁸⁹ The financial crisis was also looming, and more than 40 percent of the company's revenue came from media outlets in California and Florida—two states heavily hit by the housing market crash.⁹⁰

Despite Zell's initial promise that there would be no layoffs, more than 5,000 people lost their jobs or were bought out as the company dealt with its massive debt and declining newspaper circulation.⁹¹ At the same time, managers were receiving bonuses and company radio stations were offering outlandish cash giveaways.⁹²

Additionally, the turnover in leadership brought an unproductive change in company culture. Instead of fostering an ownership culture—which research shows is important to the success of ESOPs—the new management team created an unprofessional environment that made many employees uncomfortable.⁹³ Many workers became disillusioned, and efforts to spur employee innovation were ill received.⁹⁴

This combination of immense debt, poor industrywide performance, a weak economy, and bad management was too much for the struggling company. By December 2008, Tribune filed for bankruptcy. In 2010, Zell's chosen CEO resigned amid charges of creating a hostile and sexist work environment.⁹⁵ Zell resigned as chairman in late 2012 when the company emerged from bankruptcy and returned to a C corporation status under new ownership.⁹⁶

Several former employees filed a federal lawsuit against Tribune, Zell, and GreatBanc Trust Company, which served as the ESOP's trustee. The courts agreed with the employees' claims that GreatBanc violated its fiduciary duty by allowing the ESOP to pay more than the fair market value of the stock.⁹⁷ These charges were later dismissed for Tribune and Zell.⁹⁸ The settlement in 2012 restored \$32 million to ESOP participants.⁹⁹ Some experts and commentators have suggested that the sale to employees—and consequently the entire deal that created an ESOP— would not have happened if there had been a better upfront valuation of the company.¹⁰⁰

A federal district court also ruled that the entire transaction that occurred when Zell sold the Tribune to the ESOP was prohibited because workers received unregistered stock—meaning that employees could not sell it publicly—while there were still shares being publicly traded.¹⁰¹ The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 requires that the stock ESOPs purchase be available on the public market or—if the company is privately held—the class of stock with the highest combination of voting and dividend rights.¹⁰² Although the Tribune Publishing Company deal was rife with abuse and legal violations and ultimately did not save the company from having to employ large-scale layoffs, workers did not experience major losses to their retirement savings.¹⁰³ Before the buyout, Tribune matched the first 4 percent of worker contributions to 401(k) plans. Employees also could get as much as an additional 5 percent of their pay as a variable contribution depending on corporate profits. After the sale to the ESOP, the company contributed an amount equal to 5 percent of pay to the ESOP. Existing employee retirement funds were not converted to the ESOP when it was founded. Workers also received a 3 percent match into another employersponsored retirement plan, which was not subject to bankruptcy claims because the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation insured it.¹⁰⁴

The bankruptcy rendered the company stock worthless for the 10,000 participating employees.¹⁰⁵ However, the short life span of the ESOP limited the amount of money that had accrued for workers and thus could have been lost.¹⁰⁶ Moreover, during that period, employees were still accruing an employer match of as much as 3 percent in their secondary retirement plan.¹⁰⁷ The employees who were most affected by Tribune's bankruptcy were those who recently had been promised deferred compensation or had accepted a buyout package and were still owed severance at the time of bankruptcy because Tribune Publishing Company said it would stop making these payments.¹⁰⁸

Tribune Publishing Company's transition to an ESOP company was more of a financial maneuver than an effort to promote employee ownership. By taking on this structure, Tribune was able to avoid millions of dollars in taxes—for example, it avoided \$348 million in 2006 alone.¹⁰⁹ The ESOP was manipulated to save a troubled company, and in the process, employees paid more for the company than what it was worth.

Policies to mitigate undue risk

Research demonstrates that companies such as Enron, United Airlines, and Tribune Publishing Company created atypical structures for their employee stock ownership plans that threatened employees with an extraordinary amount of risk. The vast majority of companies that provide employee ownership through retirement do so without exposing their employees to undue risk. For example, almost all ESOPs are funded strictly through employer contributions and, on average, provide advantages above and beyond decent pay and benefits. Additionally, ESOP companies actively address risk in a number of ways, including insurance programs, protection trusts, and routine repurchase obligation planning.¹¹⁰ Moreover, most workers' holdings of company stock in 401(k) plans are at levels that do not jeopardize their future retirement savings.

For this reason, the policies recommended below are targeted to address the minority of companies where workers face undue risk through employee ownership; these policies are not intended to affect employee-owned companies that are already acting in workers' interests.

These solutions focus on targeting the risks identified in the previous sections, including overconcentration of 401(k) plan assets in company stock; companies that require wage and benefit concessions or where the ESOP functions as the only employer-sponsored retirement plan; and companies that sell overvalued ESOP stock to workers.

To help alleviate these risks, policymakers should limit 401(k) investment in company stock; allow early ESOP diversification for companies that require concessions or do not offer another retirement vehicle; and enact safeguards and enforcement mechanisms to ensure that companies correctly value ESOP stock.

The authors hope that these concepts spark a dialogue about how to better protect workers while still offering the benefits of inclusive capitalism. By tackling these issues head on, policymakers and advocates who previously have been hesitant to embrace these programs will be more likely to support policies that incentivize employee ownership in the future.

Limit 401(k) investment in employer stock

Despite policies to ensure that workers are able to diversify 401(k) plan assets out of employer stock, a small but significant percentage of employees remain invested heavily in their company's assets. Moreover, research shows that workers who receive employer contributions in the form of company stock are likely to retain it in this form rather than reinvest in other types of assets.¹¹¹

In 2010, nearly 16 percent of workers had more than 28 percent of their net wealth held in company stock, while nearly 5 percent had more than 50 percent in company stock and 0.6 percent of workers had 100 percent of their net wealth in company stock.¹¹² Additionally, research by The Vanguard Group found that an employee's probability of holding a concentrated position of company stock— or more than 20 percent—more than doubles when the 401(k) plan directs employer contributions to company stock.¹¹³ These workers face the risk of losing the bulk of their retirement savings in the event of company failure or significant depreciation in stock.

To address this issue, we propose limiting the total portion of employer stock in 401(k) plan assets to 15 percent.¹¹⁴ Participants whose funds reach the 15 percent limit will be notified that any additional investment earmarked for employer stock will be automatically enrolled in a diversified fund, unless the employee elects to opt out. Diversified funds, such as index funds or target-date funds, alter their investment mix over time to meet the needs of the employee's desired retirement date and are rapidly becoming the dominant investment strategy when workers' 401(k) plans are automatically invested.¹¹⁵

Researchers and investment experts generally recommend that the portion of 401(k) assets invested in company stock not exceed 10 percent to 15 percent of all investments.¹¹⁶ Similarly, ERISA limits the amount of company stock to 10 percent in defined benefit plans, which were the primary employer-sponsored

retirement benefit plan at the time of the law's passage.¹¹⁷ Yet there is no limit on the amount of company stock that defined contribution plans—such as 401(k) plans—may hold.¹¹⁸

By limiting company stock in 401(k) investments, workers would be protected from severe loss to their savings in the event of a company failure or drop in stock price. These protections could have spared workers some of the devastating effects in the fall of Enron and can ensure that even in less dire situations, workers are not entirely reliant upon company stock for their 401(k) retirement security.

Allow early diversification in higher-risk ESOPs

While most ESOPs are funded by the company and offer a secondary retirement plan, exceptions to these norms can make ESOPs riskier for workers. If a company requires workers to make wage concessions in order to participate in the ESOP or does not contribute to a second retirement plan, workers are put at greater risk of loss in the event of company failure.

These higher-risk ESOPs are rare. Only a handful of companies annually require employees to use wages concessions to fund an ESOP. Moreover, ESOP companies are far more likely to offer another employer-sponsored retirement plan than similar non-ESOP companies are to offer one at all. Yet workers in these situations have no ability to diversify their account holdings until they near retirement. When these circumstances exist, workers should have more of a say in the investment of their savings. Employees in such cases should have early diversification options.

Current diversification rules allow ESOP participants who have participated in the plan for 10 years and reached age 55 to diversify as much as 25 percent of their stock over the next five years. Workers can then diversify as much as a total of 50 percent of stock, minus any previously diversified shares, in the sixth year. The company must offer at least three alternative investment options under the ESOP or another retirement plan, or else issue cash or company stock to the participants.¹¹⁹

The current rules meet the needs of most workers in ESOP companies. However, the two situations described above expose workers to added risk and call for earlier diversification. The federal government should therefore require companies to institute early diversification if workers who make wage concessions participate in the ESOP or if the employer does not contribute to another retirement plan, such

as a 401(k). The required contribution level for another retirement vehicle should be set at 2 percent of salary. This is less than the current median matching contribution for 401(k) plans, to account for the fact that ESOPs generally contribute an amount of 6 percent to 10 percent of an employee's salary to employee accounts.¹²⁰

Companies with wage concessions or without a secondary retirement plan would automatically diversify 25 percent of employee ESOP accounts after 10 years, unless employees opted out. Then, five years after initial diversification, another 25 percent of the participants' accounts would be diversified. Participants would receive their shares as a direct rollover into an individual retirement account, or IRA, or other qualified retirement plan.¹²¹ Upon establishment of a concessionary plan or plan at a company with no other retirement vehicle, workers would be notified of the risks that are involved with overinvestment in the company and the automatic early diversification schedule.

Early diversification would give workers the positive benefits of employee ownership while better protecting them with diversified investments.

Ensure that companies correctly value the stock that they sell to workers

If a company is not publicly traded and wants to establish an ESOP, its stock price must be determined by the fiduciary, in consultation with a valuation advisor. The sale must be for adequate consideration, or for the fair market value of the stock as determined in good faith by the trustee.¹²² While best practices in private stock valuation are generally agreed upon throughout the ESOP community, there are not formalized standards for valuation.¹²³ As a result, there may be cases where workers' best interests are not served in this process. For example, an owner looking to exit a company may seek out a valuator who is willing to inflate the purchase price over what the market would reasonably bear if the company were sold to an outside buyer. Or the person who is selling the company to the ESOP could also be the one setting the price of the stock.¹²⁴ And although research shows that two-thirds of ESOP companies are confident that their appraisers assessed the repurchase obligation in determining company value, too often the valuator and/ or trustee does not actually take this into consideration.¹²⁵

In recent years, the federal government has focused increasingly on enforcing overinflated stock prices during the sale of a company to employees. However, there is insufficient regulatory guidance for the ESOP stock valuation process, and the way the government identifies companies at risk for improper valuations does not take into account a number of risk factors.

The federal government should establish regulations that guide the valuation process and better enforce the law by targeting the companies most at risk for overinflating stock prices.

A recent settlement between the Department of Labor and valuation company GreatBanc Trust Company provides detailed best practices for stock valuation. DOL has publicly stated that other companies should follow these as guidelines, but there are no regulatory or legal requirements that they do so.¹²⁶

In addition, DOL is working with experts within the ESOP valuation community to develop new regulations for determining adequate consideration.¹²⁷ These regulations would provide much-needed guidance on how valuations should be conducted and what sorts of safeguards the government will expect companies to adopt.

DOL should continue to prioritize the enactment of these regulations with continued involvement of the ESOP community. Moreover, the final rule should include guidelines to prevent valuator conflict of interest, outline a process for the fiduciary to understand and review the appraiser's work, and identify items to take into account in the valuation, including repurchase obligation. In the case of Tribune Publishing Company, instituting these upfront requirements could have helped restructure the deal—or even prevented the deal—as valuation advisors considered how the company would be able to meet its repurchase obligations while also servicing the incredible amount of debt that Sam Zell brought upon the company.

The federal government also should institute better targeting and enforcement of companies that may have overinflated stock prices. Currently, DOL uses an annual reporting form—the Form 5500 Series—to target companies. The form allows the agency to identify companies that have experienced a dramatic change in valuation or have a valuation that is higher than industry standards.¹²⁸ DOL should continue to target companies that have experienced dramatic changes in stock price, especially in the first few years after a transaction, or that have stock values higher than industry standards.¹²⁹ The department also should consider how to

amend the questions on the 5500 form to allow the agency to target ESOPs that may be riskier to workers. For example, there could be questions that identify ESOPs that were established only after workers made wage or salary concessions, plans that lack sufficient cash assets to buy out retiring employees, or ESOP transactions that involved the 100 percent sale of the company.¹³⁰

When an ESOP plan lacks sufficient cash assets, it may signal that the plan is representing the company as more stable and valuable than it really is or that it may be unable to fulfill repurchase obligations when workers retire. Companies should have sufficient cash reserves in order to provide cushion and fulfill repurchase obligations for retirees.

Also, if a company sells entirely to its employees in a single transaction or is sold in its entirety with an ESOP as part of the deal—as was the case for Tribune Publishing Company—it may indicate that the owner is using the ESOP to offload ownership to employees.¹³¹

Not all companies engaged in these practices will put workers at undue risk. Some companies with small or only technical violations may still be selected for audit. However, DOL can focus its limited resources on employers that may truly be putting workers at risk by targeting specific practices that may be symptomatic of larger issues.

Conclusion

Employee ownership can promote workers getting a share of the wealth they help create. Research shows that these types of programs provide a host of benefits, not just for workers but also for businesses and investors. Although the vast majority of sharing programs deliver positive benefits to workers without exposing them to undue risk, there is some inherent risk in any potential reward.

The federal government should continue to promote inclusive capitalism programs while helping to ensure that the minority of companies where workers face too much risk clean up their acts. Together with the policy proposals from CAP's "Capitalism for Everyone" companion report, the policy recommendations included in this report will further inclusive capitalism in a way that mitigates risk and maximizes rewards for all workers.

About the authors

Karla Walter is Associate Director of Employment Policy at American Progress. Karla focuses primarily on improving the economic security of American workers by increasing workers' wages and benefits, promoting workplace protections, and advancing workers' rights at work. Prior to joining American Progress, Karla was a research analyst at Good Jobs First, providing support to officials, policy research organizations, and grassroots advocacy groups striving to make state and local economic development subsidies more accountable and effective. Previously, she worked as a legislative aide for Wisconsin State Rep. Jennifer Shilling. Karla earned a master's degree in urban planning and policy from the University of Illinois at Chicago.

Danielle Corley is a Special Assistant for the Economic Policy team. Prior to joining American Progress, Danielle worked for the Senate Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions, or HELP, Committee as a staff assistant in the Disability Policy and Oversight Office. She previously interned in the Education Office of the HELP Committee as a Bill Archer fellow and in the Texas State Senate. In May 2014, Danielle graduated from The University of Texas at Austin with a degree in Plan II Honors, an interdisciplinary liberal arts program.

Endnotes

- Signe-Mary McKernan and others, "Less Than Equal: Racial Disparities in Wealth Accumulation" (Washington: Urban Institute, 2013), available at http://www. urban.org/UploadedPDF/412802-Less-Than-Equal-RacialDisparities-in-Wealth-Accumulation.pdf.
- 2 Harry Stein, "Corporate Profits and Taxes," Center for American Progress, September 15, 2014, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/ news/2014/09/15/96885/corporate-profits-and-taxes/.
- 3 For a review of this research, see Joseph R. Blasi and others, The Citizen's Share: Reducing Inequality in the 21st Century (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2013). See also Douglas L. Kruse, Richard B. Freeman, and Joseph R. Blasi, "Do Workers Gain by Sharing? Employee Outcomes under Employee Ownership, Profit Sharing, and Broad-Based Stock Options." In Douglas L. Kruse, Richard B. Freeman, and Joseph R. Blasi, eds., Shared Capitalism at Work: Employee Ownership, Profit and Gain Sharing, and Broad-Based Stock Options (Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 2010); Robert Buchele and others, "Show Me the Money: Does Shared Capitalism Share the Wealth?" In Kruse, Freeman, and Blasi, eds., Shared Capitalism at Work.
- 4 See, for example, Douglas L. Kruse, Joseph R. Blasi, and Richard B. Freeman, "Does Linking Worker Pay to Firm Performance Help the Best Firms Do Even Better?" (Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research, 2012), available at http://www.nber.org/papers/ w17745.pdf; Rhokeun Park, Douglas L. Kruse, and James Sesil, "Does Employee Ownership Enhance Firm Survival?" In Virginie Perotin and Andrew Robinson, eds., Advances in the Economic Analysis of Participatory and Self-Managed Firms Volume 12 (Bingley, England: Emerald Group Publishing Limited, 2011); Margaret Blair, Douglas L. Kruse, and Joseph R. Blasi, "Is Employee Ownership an Unstable Form? Or a Stabilizing Force? In Thomas A. Kochan and Margaret M. Blair, eds., The New Relationship: Human Capital in the American Corporation (Washington: Brookings Institution Press, 2000); Douglas L. Kruse and Joseph R. Blasi, "A Population Study of the Performance of ESOP and Non-ESOP Privately-Held Firms" (New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University School of Management and Labor Relations, 2001); National Center for Employee Ownership, "Largest Study Yet Shows ESOPs Improve Performance and Employee Benefits," available at https://www.nceo.org/ articles/esops-improve-performance-employee-benefits (last accessed September 2015); National Center for Employee Ownership, "Research on Employee Ownership, Corporate Performance, and Employee Compensation," available at https://www.nceo.org/ articles/research-employee-ownership-corporateperformance (last accessed September 2015).
- 5 Karla Walter, David Madland, and Danielle Corley, "Capitalism for Everyone: Encouraging Companies to Adopt Employee Ownership Programs and Broad-Based Profit Sharing" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/economy/report/2015/07/21/117742/capitalism-for-everyone/.
- 6 National Center for Employee Ownership, "Are ESOPs Good Retirement Plans?," available at https://www. nceo.org/articles/esops-too-risky-be-good-retirementplans (last accessed September 2015).

7 Scott Tong, "Father of modern 401(k) says it fails many Americans," Marketplace, January 13, 2013, available at http://www.marketplace.org/topics/sustainability/ consumed/father-modern-401k-says-it-fails-manyamericans; National Center for Employee Ownership, "Are ESOPs Good Retirement Plans?"

.....

- 8 James J. Choi, David Laibson, and Brigitte C. Madrian, "Are Empowerment and Education Enough? Underdiversification in 401(k) Plans," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activities* 2 (2005): 151–213, available at http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Files/Programs/ ES/BPEA/2005_2_ppea_papers/2005b_bpea_choi.pdf; Natalie Sabadish and Monique Morrissey, "Retirement Inequality Chartbook: How the 401(k) revolution created a few big winners and many losers" (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2013), available at http:// www.epi.org/publication/retirement-inequality-chartbook/.
- 9 National Center for Employee Ownership, "ESOP Tax Incentives and Contribution Limits," available at https:// www.nceo.org/articles/esop-tax-incentives-contribution-limits (last accessed September 2015).
- 10 National Center for Employee Ownership, "How an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) Works," available at http://www.nceo.org/articles/esop-employee-stockownership-plan (last accessed September 2015).
- 11 The Wall Street Journal, "What Is a 401(k)?", available at http://guides.wsj.com/personal-finance/retirement/ what-is-a-401k/ (last accessed September 2015).
- 12 Research by The Vanguard Group shows that in 46 percent of plans, employers provided only matching contributions; in 37 percent of plans, employers offered matching and nonmatching contributions; 11 percent of plans offered only a nonmatching employer contribution; and 6 percent of plans offered no employer contribution. See The Vanguard Group, "How America Saves" (2015), available at https://institutional.vanguard.com/VGApp/iip/site/institutional/clientsolutions/dc/howamericasaves.

13 Ibid.

- 14 Joseph R. Blasi, Douglas L. Kruse, and Harry M. Markowitz, "Risk and Lack of Diversification under Employee Ownership and Shared Capitalism." In Kruse, Freeman, and Blasi, eds., Shared Capitalism at Work; Mark Miller, "Your employer's stock: How much is too much?", Reuters, November 11, 2011, available at http://www. reuters.com/article/2011/11/11/us-usa-retirementcompanystock-idUSTRE7AA47B2011111; Maggie McGrath, "How Much Of Your Company's Stock Is Too Much?", Forbes, October 22, 2013, available at http:// www.forbes.com/sites/maggiemcgrath/2013/10/22/ how-much-of-your-companys-stock-is-too-much/.
- 15 Blasi, Kruse, and Markowitz, "Risk and Lack of Diversification under Employee Ownership and Shared Capitalism."

16 Ibid.

- 17 Joseph R. Blasi, Michael Conte, and Douglas L. Kruse, "Employee Stock Ownership and Corporate Performance Among Public Companies," *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 50 (1) (1996): 60–79; Peter A. Kardas, Jim Keogh, and Adria L. Scharf, "Wealth and Income Consequences of Employee Ownership: A Comparative Study from Washington State," *Journal of Employee Ownership Law and Finance* 10 (4) (1998): 3–52; James C. Sesil and others, "Broad-Based Employee Stock Options in the U.S.: Company Performance and Characteristics," *Management Review* 19 (2) (2007).
- 18 E. Han Kim and Paige Parker Ouimet, "Employee Capitalism or Corporate Socialism? Broad-Based Employee Stock Ownership," US Census Bureau Center for Economic Studies Paper No. CES-WP-09-44 (2009) available at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_ id=1529631; Sesil and others, "Broad-Based Employee Stock Options in the U.S.: Company Performance and Characteristics"; Blasi, Conte, and Kruse, "Employee Stock Ownership and Corporate Performance Among Public Companies"; Stephane Renaud, Sylvie St-Onge, and Michel Magnan, "The Impact of Stock Purchase Plan Participation on Workers' Individual Cash Compensation," Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society 43 (1) (2004): 120–147; Fidan Ana Kurtulus and Douglas L. Kruse, How Did Employee Ownership Firms Weather the Last Two Recessions? (Kalamazoo, MI: Upjohn Institute for Employment Research: forthcoming).
- 19 National Center for Employee Ownership, "Research on Employee Ownership, Corporate Performance, and Employee Compensation."
- 20 National Center for Employee Ownership, "Largest Study Yet Shows ESOPs Improve Performance and Employee Benefits"; National Center for Employee Ownership, "Are ESOPs Good Retirement Plans?"; Loren Rogers, "The Employee Ownership Update," National Center for Employee Ownership, February 18, 2014, available at https://www.nceo.org/employee-ownership-update/2014-02-18.
- 21 National Center for Employee Ownership, "Research on Employee Ownership, Corporate Performance, and Employee Compensation."
- 22 Based on National Center for Employee Ownership, or NCEO, analysis of 1,232 leveraged ESOP transactions at three large banks, the annual default rate for ESOPs was 0.2 percent between 2009 and 2013. According to the NCEO, the best available comparison data come from Standard & Poor's, or S&P's, IO Credit Pro report on default rates for midmarket companies borrowing less than \$200 million. ESOPs would all be in this range, though the median would likely still be smaller than that for the entire S&P sample. Data for smaller loans are not available. The mean default rate for these companies was 3.75 percent per year from 2010 to 2013. The median ESOP loan is much less, but there is no smaller loan data. See Corey Rosen and Loren Rodgers, "Default Rates on Leveraged ESOPs, 2009-2013" (Oakland, CA: National Center for Employee Ownership, 2014), available at http://www.nceo.org/assets/pdf/ Default-Study-full.pdf.
- 23 Joseph Blasi, Douglas L. Kruse, and Dan Weltmann, "Firm Survival and Performance in Privately Held ESOP Companies." In Douglas L. Kruse, ed., Sharing Ownership, Profits, and Decision-Making in the 21st Century: Advances in the Economic Analysis of Participatory & Labor-Managed Firms, Volume 14 (Bingley, England: Emerald Group Publishing Limited, 2013), pp. 109–124; Rhokeun Park, Douglas Kruse and James Sesil, "Does Employee Ownership Enhance Firm Survival?." Employee Participation, Firm Performance and Survival Advances in the Economic Analysis of Participatory and Labor-Managed Firms, Volume 8 (2004): 3–33; Margaret M. Blair, Douglas

L. Kruse, and Joseph R. Blasi, "Employee Ownership: An Unstable Form or a Stabilizing Force?" In Margaret M. Blair and Thomas A. Kochan, eds., *The New Relationship: Human Capital in the American Corporation* (Washington: Brookings Institution, 2000).

- 24 Workers who have reached age 55 and who have participated in the plan for 10 years are able to diversify up to 25 percent of company stock in their accounts during the next five years and during the sixth year are able to diversify up to 50 percent, excluding any previously diversified shares. To meet diversification requirements, the ESOP must provide three alternate investment options either under the ESOP or under another plan, such as a 401(k), or distribute cash or company stock to participants. See National Center for Employee Ownership, "ESOP Vesting, Distribution, and Diversification Rules," available at http://www.nceo.org/ articles/esop-vesting-distribution-diversification (last accessed September 2015).
- 25 U.S. Department of Labor, "ERISA Enforcement," available at http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/erisa_enforcement. html (last accessed September 2015).
- 26 Ruth Simon and Sarah Needleman, "U.S. Increases Scrutiny of Employee-Stock-Ownership Plans," *The Wall Street Journal*, June 22, 2014, available at http://www. wsj.com/articles/u-s-increases-scrutiny-of-employeestock-ownership-plans-1403484135.
- 27 For information on total plan asset value for all employee stock ownership plans, see National Center for Employee Ownership, "A Statistical Profile of Employee Ownership," available at https://www.nceo.org/articles/statistical-profile-employee-ownership (last accessed September 2015).
- 28 For example, in a 2001 survey of 428 employers by Hewitt Associates, 29.6 percent of the assets in company 401(k) plans were invested in employer stock. For more information, see Patrick J. Purcell, "The Enron Bankruptcy and Employer Stock in Retirement Plans" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2002), available at http://www.iwar.org.uk/news-archive/ crs/9102.pdf.
- 29 Pension Protection Act of 2006, Public Law 109-280, 109th Cong. 2d sess. (August 17, 2006), available at http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-bin/bdquery/ zd109:HR00004:@@@L&summ2=m& National Center for Employee Ownership, "401(k) Plans as Employee Ownership Vehicles, Alone and in Combination with ESOPs," available at https://www.nceo.org/ articles/401k-plans-employee-ownership-esops (last accessed September 2015).
- 30 In 2013, Hewitt Associates again surveyed more than 400 employers and found that the percentage of all employee assets that were held in company stock had dropped to 14 percent. See also Steven P. Utkus and Jean A. Young, "The evolution of company stock in defined contribution plans" (Valley Forge, PA: The Vanguard Group, 2014), available at https://institutional. vanguard.com/iam/pdf/CREVO.pdf.
- 31 Blasi, Kruse, and Markowitz, "Risk and Lack of Diversification under Employee Ownership and Shared Capitalism."
- 32 The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences, "This Year's Laureates Are Pioneers in the Theory of Financial Economics and Corporate Finance," Press release, October 16, 1990, available at http://www.nobelprize.org/ nobel_prizes/economic-sciences/laureates/1990/press. html.

- 33 Investopedia, "Complete Guide To Investment Companies, Funds And REITs," available at http://www.investopedia.com/walkthroughfund-guide/introduction/1/ modern-portfolio-theory-mpt.aspx (last accessed September 2015).
- 34 Blasi, Kruse, and Markowitz, "Risk and Lack of Diversification under Employee Ownership and Shared Capitalism."
- 35 Jack VanDerhei and others, "401(k) Plan Asset Allocation, Account Balances, and Loan Activity in 2013" (Washington: Employee Benefit Research Institute, 2014), available at http://www.ebri.org/pdf/briefspdf/ EBR_IB_408_Dec14.401(k)-update.pdf.
- 36 Choi, Laibson, and Madrian, "Are Empowerment and Education Enough?"
- 37 Daniel Fernandes, John G. Lynch Jr., and Richard G. Netemeyer, "Financial Literacy, Financial Education and Downstream Financial Behaviors," *Management Science* (January 27, 2014): 1861–1863, available at http://pubsonline.informs.org/doi/citedby/10.1287/ mnsc.2013.1849. Fernandes, Lynch, and Netemeyer found that interventions to improve financial literacy explained only 0.1 percent of the variance in the financial behaviors studied, with weaker effects on lowincome samples.
- 38 Choi, Laibson, and Madrian, "Are Empowerment and Education Enough?"
- 39 Ron Lieber, "A Scary Movie: Filling Your 401(k) With Company Stock," *The New York Times*, March 20, 2015, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2015/03/21/ your-money/a-scary-movie-filling-your-401-k-withcompany-stock.html.
- 40 The New York Times, "The Rise and Fall of Enron," November 2, 2001, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2001/11/02/opinion/the-rise-and-fall-of-enron. html; Bethany McLean and Peter Elkind "The guiltiest guys in the room," CNN Money, July 5, 2006, available at http://money.cnn.com/2006/05/29/news/enron_guiltyest/.
- 41 Ibid.
- 42 Robert J. Samuelson, "Stock Option Madness," The Washington Post, January 30, 2002, available at http:// www.law.harvard.edu/faculty/bebchuk/pdfs/Samuelson_WashPost.pdf; Paul Krugman, "Greed Is Bad," The New York Times, June 4, 2002, available at http://www. nytimes.com/2002/06/04/opinion/greed-is-bad.html; Susan J. Stabile, "Enron, Global Crossing, and Beyond: Implications for Workers," St. John's Law Review 76 (4) (2002): 815–834, available at http://scholarship.law. stjohns.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1368&context =lawreview.
- 43 John H. Langbein, "The Enron Pension Investment Catastrophe: Why It Happened and How Congress Should Fix It," Testimony before the U.S. Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs, "Enron Hearings," January 24, 2002, available at http://www.law.yale.edu/documents/ pdf/Langbein.pdf.
- 44 Ibid.
- 45 Gretchen Morgenson, "Market Watch; Beware Those One-Note 401 (k/s," *The New York Times*, December 2, 2001, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2001/12/02/business/market-watch-bewarethose-one-note-401-k-s.html; Rick Bragg, "Enron's Collapse: Workers; Workers Feel Pain of Layoffs And Added Sting of Betrayal," *The New York Times*, January 20, 2002, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2002/01/20/us/ enron-s-collapse-workers-workers-feel-pain-layoffsadded-sting-betrayal.html.

- 46 David K. Millon, "Enron and the Dark Side of Worker Ownership," Seattle Journal for Social Justice 1 (113) (2002): 113–126, available at http://scholarlycommons. law.wlu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1176&context =wlufac.
- 47 Langbein, "The Enron Pension Investment Catastrophe."
- 48 Richard A. Oppel Jr., "Employees' Retirement Plan Is a Victim as Enron Tumbles," *The New York Times*, November 22, 2001, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2001/11/22/business/employees-retirement-planis-a-victim-as-enron-tumbles.html.
- 49 Pratap Chatterjee, "Enron: Pulling the Plug on the Global Power Broker," CorpWatch, December 13, 2001, available at http://www.corpwatch.org/article. php?id=1016.
- 50 Morgenson, "Market Watch; Beware Those One-Note 401(k)'s."
- 51 Bragg, "Enron's Collapse: Workers; Workers Feel Pain of Layoffs And Added Sting of Betrayal."
- 52 Steve Hargreaves, "Ex-Enron workers: Keep Skilling in prison," CNN Money, May 10, 2013, available at http:// money.cnn.com/2013/05/10/news/companies/enronskilling/.
- 53 Purcell, "The Enron Bankruptcy and Employer Stock in Retirement Plans."
- 54 Ibid.
- 55 Utkus and Young, "The evolution of company stock in defined contribution plans."
- 56 Craig C. Martin and Joshua Rafsky, "The Pension Protection Act of 2006: An Overview of Sweeping Changes in the Law Governing Retirement Plans," John Marshall Law Review 40 (3) (2007): 843–866, available at http:// repository.jmls.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1245& context=lawreview.
- 57 Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, Public Law 107-204, 107th Cong. 2 sess. (July 30, 2002), available at http://www. sec.gov/about/laws/soa2002.pdf.
- 58 Utkus and Young, "The evolution of company stock in defined contribution plans."
- 59 Blasi, Freeman, and Kruse, The Citizen's Share; Sarah Holden and others, "401(k) Plan Asset Allocation, Account Balances, and Loan Activity in 2012," ICI Research Perspective 19 (12) (2013): 1–64, available at http:// www.ici.org/pdf/per19-12.pdf.
- 60 In 2001, Sen. Barbara Boxer (D-CA) introduced the Pension Protection and Diversification Act, which would have limited the amount of company stock allowable in 401(k) plans to 20 percent and allowed employees to divest company stock any time after 90 days following allocation. See Pension Protection and Diversification Act of 2001, S.1838, 107 Cong. sess. 2 (2001), available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/107th-congress/senatebill/1838. The Pension Protection and Diversification Act of 2002, introduced by Rep. Bill Pascrell Jr. (D-NJ) during the same Congress, would have also limited the amount to 20 percent. See Pension Protection and Diversification Act of 2002, H. Rept. 3640, 107th Cong. 2 sess. (Library of Congress, 2002), available at https://www. congress.gov/bill/107th-congress/house-bill/3640. The Pension Protection Act, introduced by Rep. Peter Deutsch (D-FL) that year, would have restricted the allowable amount of company stock in 401(k) plans funded by employee contributions to 10 percent. See Pension Protection Act, H. Rept. 3463, 107 Cong. 1 sess. (Library of Congress, 2001), available at https://www. congress.gov/bill/107th-congress/house-bill/3463.The

Employee Retirement Savings Bill of Rights would have allowed participants holding employer securities to diversify 100 percent of their holdings after 2007. See Employee Retirement Savings Bill of Rights, H. Rept. 3669, 107 Cong. 2 sess. (Library of Congress, 2002), available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/107th-congress/ house-bill/3669.

- 61 Protecting America's Pensions Act of 2002. S.1992, 107th Congress, 2 sess. (Library of Congress, 2002), available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/107th-congress/ senate-bill/1992. Additional proposals included requiring plans that offered employer stock to offer at least three other investment options. See National Employee Savings and Trust Equity Guarantee Act, S. 1971, 107th Cong., 2 sess. (2002), available at https:// www.congress.gov/bill/107th-congress/senatebill/1971?resultIndex=1; Employee Retirement Savings Bill of Rights, H.R. 3669, 107th Congress, 2 sess (Library of Congress, 2002).
- 62 Farhad Manjoo, "United's ESOP fable," Salon, December 12, 2002, available at http://www.salon. com/2002/12/12/esop/.
- 63 See Thomas A. Kochan, "Rebuilding the Social Contract at Work: Lessons from Leading Cases" (Washington: U.S. Department of Labor, 2001), available at http://www. dol.gov/dol/aboutdol/history/herman/reports/futurework/conference/contract/united.htm.
- 64 Rachel Beck, "United Airlines' employee stock ownership program doomed from start," *Peninsula Clarion*, December 13, 2002, available at http://peninsulaclarion.com/stories/121302/bus_121302bus0050001.shtml.
- 65 Kochan, "Rebuilding the Social Contract at Work"
- 66 Ibid.
- 67 Christopher Mackin, "United It Was Not," Ownership Associates Inc., January 1, 2003, available at http://www.ownershipassociates.com/united.shtm.
- 68 Corey Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: United Airlines, ESOPs, and Employee Ownership," National Center for Employee Ownership, November 2002, available at http://www.nceo.org/observationsemployee-ownership/c/united-airlines-esops-employee-ownership.
- 69 Ibid.; Beck, "United Airlines' employee stock ownership program doomed from start."
- 70 Jeffrey N. Gordon, "Employee Stock Ownership in Economic Transitions: The Case of United Airlines" Journal of Applied Corporate Finance, 10 (4) (1998): 39–62, available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1111/j.1745-6622.1998.tb00308.x/abstract.
- 71 Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: United Airlines, ESOPs, and Employee Ownership"; Beck, "United Airlines' employee stock ownership program doomed from start."
- 72 Kathleen Pender, "United ESOP tragically flawed," SF-Gate, December 8, 2002, available at http://www.sfgate. com/business/networth/article/United-ESOP-tragicallyflawed-2747210.php.
- 73 Blasi, Freeman, and Kruse, The Citizen's Share; Manjoo, "United's ESOP fable"; Beck, "United Airlines' employee stock ownership program doomed from start"; Kochan, "Rebuilding the Social Contract at Work."
- 74 Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: United Airlines, ESOPs, and Employee Ownership."

- 75 Beck, "United Airlines' employee stock ownership program doomed from start."
- 76 Jeffrey N. Gordon, "The United Airline Bankruptcy and the Future of Employee Ownership," Employee Rights and Employment Policy Journal AALS Issue on Employee Stock Ownership After Enron, Volume 7 (2003): 227, 2003, available at http://ssrn.com/abstract=809285.
- 77 Manjoo, "United's ESOP fable."
- 78 Barbara Kiviat, "How badly did Sam Zell stick it to Tribune Co. employees?", *Time*, December 8, 2008, available at http://business.time.com/2008/12/08/howbadly-did-sam-zell-stick-it-to-tribune-co-employees/.
- 79 Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: United Airlines, ESOPs, and Employee Ownership".
- 80 Ibid.
- 81 Blasi, Freeman, and Kruse, *The Citizen's Share*, pp. 106– 108; ibid.
- 82 Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: United Airlines, ESOPs, and Employee Ownership"; *Plansponsor*, "The Bottom Line: Crash and Burn," available at http://legacy.plansponsor.com/magazine_ type1/?RECORD_ID=19336 (last accessed September 2015).
- 83 Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: United Airlines, ESOPs, and Employee Ownership."
- 84 Michael Oneal and Steve Mills, "Part one: Zell's big gamble," *Chicago Tribune*, January 13, 2013, available at http://articles.chicagotribune.com/2013-01-13/business/ct-biz-trib-series-1-20130113_1_sam-zell-randymichaels-big-gamble.
- 85 Corey Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: The Tribune Company Transaction: Things to Know in Assessing What Happened," National Center on Employee Ownership, May 2009, available at http:// www.nceo.org/observations-employee-ownership/c/ tribune-company-transaction-what-happened; Bill McIntyre, "The Tribune Company ESOP: Billionaires Discover ESOPs," Owners at Work 19 (1) (2007): 8–17, available at http://www.oeockent.org/download/oaw/ oawsummer07.pdf.pdf.
- 86 S corporations are so-called pass-through entities, and therefore the profits of S corporation plans are not subject to federal income tax. The thinking being that when profits flow through the company-to those profits should only be taxed once. For more information, see National Center for Employee Ownership, "ESOPs in S Corporations," available at https://www. nceo.org/articles/esops-s-corporations (last accessed October 2015).
- 87 McIntyre, "The Tribune Company ESOP: Billionaires Discover ESOPs."
- 88 Michal Oneal, "Zell lands Tribune," Chicago Tribune, April 3, 2007, available at http://www.chicagotribune. com/news/nationworld/chi-0704030166apr03-story. html#page=1.
- 89 Ibid.; Michael Oneal and Steve Mills, "Part two: Warning signs," Chicago Tribune, January 14, 2013, available at http://articles.chicagotribune.com/2013-01-14/business/ct-biz-trib-series-2-20130114_1_zell-s-tribunezell-and-tribune-sam-zell.

90 Ibid.

- 91 Michael Oneal and Steve Mills, "Part three: Culture shock," Chicago Tribune, January 15, 2013, available at http://articles.chicagotribune.com/2013-01-15/ business/ct-biz-trib-series-3-20130115_1_zell-andmichaels-sam-zell-randy-michaels; David Carr, "At Flagging Tribune, Tales of a Bankrupt Culture," The New York Times, October 5, 2010, available at http://www. nytimes.com/2010/10/06/business/media/06tribune. html?pagewanted-all.
- 92 Ibid.
- 93 Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: The Tribune Company Transaction"; Oneal and Mills, "Part three: Culture Shock."
- 94 Ibid.
- 95 Oneal and Mills, "Part three: Culture Shock."
- 96 Floyd Norris, "Tribune Falls Afoul of Its Own Tax Strategy," The New York Times, June 20, 2013, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2013/06/21/business/ tribunes-clever-tax-strategy-now-spells-trouble. html?pagewanted=all; ibid.
- 97 Jim Romenesko, "Judge OKs \$32 million settlement for Tribune employees," Poynter, October 26, 2011, available at http://www.poynter.org/news/mediawire/151099/judge-oks-32-million-settlement-fortribune-employees/.
- 98 Ibid.
- 99 U.S. Department of Labor, "US Labor Department concludes settlement restoring \$32 million to Tribune Co. employee stock ownership plan," Press release, February 23, 2012, available at http://www.dol.gov/ opa/media/press/ebsa/EBSA20120362.htm.
- 100 James O'Shea, The Deal from Hell: How Moguls and Wall Street Plundered Great American Newspapers (New York: PublicAffairs, 2011); Holman W. Jenkins Jr., "Where the Tribune LBO Went Wrong," The Wall Street Journal, January 22, 2013, available at http://www.wsj.com/articles/ SB10001424127887324624404578257582356730460.
- 101 Jerry Hirsch, "LA. Times employees settle lawsuit over stock ownership plan for \$32 million," Los Angeles Times, August 20, 2011, available at http://articles.latimes. com/2011/aug/20/business/la-fi-0820-tribune-settlement-20110820; Corey Rosen, "The Employee Ownership, Update," National Center for Employee Ownership, November 15, 2010, available at http://www.nceo.org/ employee-ownership-update/2010-11-15; Neil v. Zell, 2010 United States District Court, Illinois, 667 F. Supp. 2d 1010, available at https://casetext.com/case/neil-vzell-2.
- 102 Rosen, "The Employee Ownership Update," November 15, 2010.
- 103 Kiviat, "How badly did Sam Zell stick it to Tribune Co. employees?"; Emily Thornton, "Tribune Bankruptcy Snares Employees," Bloomberg Business, December 8, 2008, available at http://www.bloomberg.com/bw/ stories/2008-12-08/tribune-bankruptcy-snares-employeesbusinessweek-business-news-stock-market-andfinancial-advice; Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: The Tribune Company Transaction."
- 104 Kiviat, "How badly did Sam Zell stick it to Tribune Co. employees?"; Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: The Tribune Company Transaction."
- 105 John Hudson, "More Ways Sam Zell Destroyed the Tribune Company." The Wire, June 20, 2011, available at http://www.thewire.com/business/2011/06/moreways-sam-zell-destroyed-tribune-company/38997/.

106 Kiviat, "How badly did Sam Zell stick it to Tribune Co. employees?"

- 107 Corey Rosen, "Observations on Employee Ownership: What Will Happen to the ESOP in the Tribune Bankruptcy?", National Center on Employee Ownership, December 2008, available at http://www.nceo.org/ observations-employee-ownership/c/esop-tribunebankruptcy.
- 108 Ellen E. Schultz, "Tribune Filing Exposes Risks of ESOPs," The Wall Street Journal, December 10, 2008, available at http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB12288753916093693; Richard Pérez-Peña, "Tribune Company Seeks Bankruptcy Protection," The New York Times, December 8, 2008, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2008/12/09/business/media/09tribune.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0.

109 Oneal, "Zell lands Tribune."

- 110 See, for example, Stock Shield, "Stock Protection Trust," available at http://stockshield.com/our-products/esopprotection-trust/ (last accessed September 2015); The ESOP Association, "The ESOP Association Executive Liability Insurance Program," available at http://www. esopassociation.org/about-the-association/join/member-benefits/executive-liability-insurance (last accessed September 2015).
- 111 Utkus and Young, "The evolution of company stock in defined contribution plans."
- 112 Joseph R. Blasi, Douglas L. Kruse, and Harry M. Markowitz, "Risk and Lack of Diversification under Employee Ownership and Shared Capitalism." In Kruse, Freeman, and Blasi, eds., Shared Capitalism at Work.
- 113 Utkus and Young, "The evolution of company stock in defined contribution plans."
- 114 Scholars and policymakers have suggested similar limits in the past. See, for example, Christian E. Weller and Ross Eisenbrey, "No More Enrons: Protecting 401(k) Plans for a Safe Retirement" (Washington: Economic Policy Institute, 2002), available at http://www.epi. org/publication/issuebriefs_ib174/. Here, the authors suggest limiting 401(k) plan assets to 10 percent across all of a worker's 401(k) investment options. The Pension Protection and Diversification Act of 2001 would have limited to 20 percent the portion of funds that could be invested in employer stock by an employee's individual 401(k) plan. The Protecting America's Pensions Act of 2002 would have allowed a defined contribution plan to either permit employee contributions in company stock or the employer contribution in company stockbut not both. For more information, see Purcell, "The Enron Bankruptcy and Employer Stock in Retirement Plans." The Pension Protection Act, would have prohibited 401(k) plans from using employee contributions to acquire or hold more than 10 percent of their value in employer securities. Richard B. Freeman, Joseph R. Blasi, and Douglas L. Kruse, "Inclusive Capitalism for the American Workforce: Reaping the Rewards of Economic Growth through Broad-based Employee Ownership and Profit Sharing" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2011), available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/issues/2011/03/pdf/ worker_productivity.pdf. Here, the authors suggest limiting the amount of company stock in a company's or an individual employee's 401(k) plan financed by that worker's savings to 10 percent. Additionally, this policy would address KSOPs, which are combination 401(k) and ESOP plans—mainly used by large public companies-where the employer match to the 401(k) plan is a contribution to an ESOP. They essentially function as 401(k) investments in company stock and, therefore, should follow the same diversification rules. For more on KSOPs, see National Center for Employee Ownership, "401(k) Plans as Employee Ownership

Vehicles, Alone and in Combination with ESOPs," available at https://www.nceo.org/articles/401k-plansemployee-ownership-esops (last accessed September 2015).

- 115 U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, "Investor Bulletin: Target Date Retirement Funds," available at http:// www.sec.gov/investor/alerts/tdf.htm (last accessed September 2015); The Vanguard Group, "How America Saves 2014" (2014), available at https://pressroom. vanguard.com/content/nonindexed/How_America_ Saves_2014.pdf.
- 116 Blasi, Kruse, and Markowitz, "Risk and Lack of Diversification under Employee Ownership and Shared Capitalism"; McGrath, "How Much Of Your Company's Stock Is Too Much?"; Miller, "Your employer's stock: How much is too much?"
- 117 Choi, Laibson, and Madrian, "Are Empowerment and Education Enough?"
- 118 Half of plans with active company stock funds impose restrictions on contributions in company stock, and 7 in 10 plans allow employees to immediately diversify. For more information, see Utkus and Young, "The evolution of company stock in defined contribution plans."
- 119 Legal Information Institute, "26 U.S. Code § 401 Qualified pension, profit-sharing, and stock bonus plans," available at https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/ text/26/401 (last accessed September 2015); National Center for Employee Ownership, "ESOP Vesting, Distribution, and Diversification Rules."
- 120 The Vanguard Group, "How America Saves"; National Center for Employee Ownership, "ESOP Tax Incentives and Contribution Limits."
- 121 A similar plan was devised for ComSonic. See Bill McIntyre, "An Early Diversification Program: A Worthy Addition to the Ideal ESOP Plan," *Owners at Work* 23 (2) (2012): 24, available at http://www.oeockent.org/ download/ESOPS/an-early-diversification-program.pdf. pdf.
- 122 Legal Information Institute, "29 U.S. Code § 1002 -Definitions," available at https://www.law.cornell.edu/ uscode/text/29/1002 (last accessed September 2015).
- 123 Although IRS Revenue Ruling 59-60 is used for guidance in the valuation process, this ruling is intended to guide business valuations for gift and estate tax purposes. It does not address certain requirements specific to ESOPs. See IRS 4.72.4.2.12.3 (04-01-2006): Employer Securities and Prohibited Transactions. For more on the history of the rule as applied to ESOPs, see ESI, "ESOP Articles," available at http://www.esi-enterprise.com/ publications_articles_esop_2art.html (last accessed September 2015)..

- 124 Frank Brown, "Q&A with Tim Hauser of the U.S. Department of Labor," *Insights* 7 (105) (2015): 74–79, available at http://www.willamette.com/insights_journal/15/ spring_2015_8.pdf.
- 125 Corey Rosen, "The Employee Ownership Update," National Center for Employee Ownership, February 1, 2011, available at https://www.nceo.org/employeeownership-update/2011-02-01; National Center for Employee Ownership, "The 2010 NCEO Survey on ESOP Repurchase Obligation" (2011) in Judith Kornfeld and others, "The ESOP Repurchase Obligation Handbook" (California: National Center for Employee Ownership, 2011), available at http://www.nceo.org/ESOP-Repurchase-Obligation/pub.php/id/18/.
- 126 Brown, "Q&A with Tim Hauser of the U.S. Department of Labor."
- 127 In 1988, the Department of Labor proposed adequate consideration regulations, which were never finalized. DOL is currently working with the ESOP appraisal community to update these regulations. For more information, see The ESOP Association Blog, "The Department of Labor Seeks Comments on Proposed Regulation on the Definition of Adequate Consideration," March 9, 2015, available at http://esopassociationblog. org/2015/03/09/the-department-of-labor-seekscomments-on-proposed-regulation-on-the-definitionof-adequate-consideration/.
- 128 U.S. Department of Labor, "Form 5500 Series," available at http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/5500main.html (last accessed October 2015).
- 129 While there may be some fluctuation in stock value in a leveraged ESOP after a loan is taken out, extreme changes should raise a flag for DOL.
- 130 The 5500 form has the potential to collect better information on inclusive capitalism, including more data on participants, majority status, and mechanisms for worker control.
- 131 Bryan, Pendleton, Swats & McAllister LLC, "A look at the good, the bad, and the ugly of an Employee Stock Ownership Plan" (San Francisco: Wells Fargo, 2013), available at https://www08.wellsfargomedia.com/ downloads/pdf/com/retirement-employee-benefits/insights/good-bad-ugly-esop.pdf; Prairie Capital Advisors Inc., "All In: Is a 100% ESOP Model Right for You?", available at http://www.prairiecap.com/forward-articles/ all-in-is-a-100-esop-model-right-for-you/ (last accessed September 2015).

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

